1953

Wilfred A. Rogalski v. Phillips Petroleum Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Defendant appeals from a judgment on a verdict for \$6,212.50 recovered by plaintiff for personal injuries. On January 18, 1952, plaintiff's employer, Parley Droubay, instructed plaintiff to drive one of Droubay's tanker trucks onto a cement platform on defendant's premises at Woods Cross, Utah, and to steamclean the undercarriage of said truck. Droubay had previously been refused permission by defendant's officials to use cement platform for washing his trucks. Plaintiff alleged in his complaint that he and his employer, Droubay, were

"business invitees," although the place where the injury to plaintiff occurred was entirely outside the area where plaintiff and his employer transacted any business with defendant.

Defendant by answer denied that plaintiff and his employer were business invitees, and alleged that the injuries were sustained solely by reason of plaintiff's negligence. The evidence showed that plaintiff operated the steam cleaner, and directed a charge of steam downward in such a manner that his vision was completely obscured, and while his vision was so obscured by the steam by reason of the manner in which plaintiff operated the equipment, and without turning the nozzle up or away and without waiting for the steam to clear away, the plaintiff walked around the front of the truck off the cement platform, stepped into a tank of caustic soda, the side of which tank was 14 inches above the level of the concrete washing platform. Plaintiff suffered chemical burns to his leg. A lid was and is hinged to the caustic soda tank, which, when down, covers the tank. The caustic soda is used by defendant for cleaning certain chemical pump equipment parts. Plaintiff admitted that at no time did he pay any attention to said tank, and he made no observations with respect to it as he drove the truck onto the platform. There is no evidence as to who raised the cover lid of the tank on the day in question, and as far as the evidence shows, the only persons who were around there were plaintiff and his employee, Parley Droubay.

The trial court refused defendant's request to make the State Insurance Fund a party to the action, although plaintiff was paid compensation for the injury. The court excluded

evidence of plaintiff's admissions made on deposition which showed that plaintiff could have seen the tank and avoided stepping off the platform over into the tank if he had turned the steam nozzle up instead of downward. The court denied defendant's motion for a directed verdict of no cause of action. Such motion was predicated upon the theory that plaintiff was guilty of negligence which as a matter of law precluded recovery, for the reason that (a) there was no evidence that either plaintiff or his employer was a business invitee at the place on defendant's property where the injury occurred, (b) there was no evidence that defendant's officers or employees had lifted the lid of the caustic soda tank, and (c) the evidence conclusively showed that the injury was caused solely by the reckless conduct of plaintiff in moving toward the tank when his vision was totally obscured from the steam by reason of the manner in which plaintiff operated the equipment. The court submitted the case to the jury on plaintiff's theory that plaintiff was a business guest, and refused to submit the case to the jury with appropriate instructions as to defendant's theory that plaintiff was not a business invitee on the premises of defendant where the injury occurred.

The trial court denied defendant's motion for judgment in accordance with the motion for directed verdict, and also the alternative motion for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(a) *The place where the injury occurred was not a part of the premises where plaintiff and his employer were business invitees.*

Phillips Petroleum Company, defendant and appellant, has a petroleum products loading plant located at the southeast corner of Firth North and Onion Streets in Woods Cross, Utah. At the west end of the property there is a loading rack consisting of pumps from which petroleum products of defendant are diverted into tankers. Plaintiff's employer, Parley Droubay, was and is an independent business operator engaging in the distribution of Phillips petroleum products, under an express written contract. Droubay owned tankers, into which he or his employees loaded Phillips products at the marketing facility.

Several hundred feet to the east of the loading rack is a garage building, part of which was used by defendant, and other portions were leased to Droubay under written lease, and another portion was leased as a custom garage to one Mitchell. The premises leased to Droubay are specifically described in the lease. Those leased premises did not include any portion of the premises where the accident occurred, nor the loading area where Droubay and his employees obtained petroleum products.

The premises where the accident occurred on January 18, 1952, were never included in the lease to Droubay, nor ever used for loading any petroleum products into Droubay's trucks or tankers (R. 150). There is no evidence that any business whatsoever was ever transacted between Droubay and the defendant in that particular area. Adjacent to the portion of the garage building used by defendant and not leased to others, there is a cement slab 13 feet 11 inches in width and 51 feet 4 inches in length (R. 101). There is a drain located approxi-

mately in the center of the slab (R. 101). The steam-cleaning equipment was located on the north wall. On the east of the concrete slab or platform, there is a large garage door leading to garage and warehouse facilities of defendant. There was and is no covering for this concrete washing platform.

On the south of the concrete platform, entirely off such slab, 2 inches south of the slab, 20 inches from the east wall of the garage, there was and is a metal tank containing caustic soda. The tank is 5 feet 11 inches in length, and extends $14\frac{3}{4}$ inches above the level of the concrete slab (R. 38). There was and is a lid fastened on hinges (R. 65). The cover has always been down when the vat or tank was not in use, as far as Droubay had observed (R. 77). The caustic soda is used for cleaning equipment parts (R. 76). Neither Droubay nor plaintiff saw any Phillips employees around or near the tank on January 18, 1952, the date of the accident (R. 77, 108, 114, 172-173).

Neither the washing platform nor the adjacent caustic soda tank has ever been leased to anyone. Droubay had attempted to obtain written permission for the use of the washing platform, but such use had never been granted (R. 92). He did not claim any right to go onto that concrete slab to wash trucks (R. 87). He had previously asked for permission, but he was "generally just put off" (R. 86). The written agreements he had did not include the right to use said facilities. None of the company officials had ever authorized him to utilize the washing facilities and had refused him such right. Droubay, a former employee of defendant, had washed his trucks there at times prior to the day in question. He had

"usually checked with the people in the maintenance to see if they were going to be using it, or if I was going to be in anybody's way." He had no arrangements for going onto the slab, and he regarded his use of it as a matter of "neighborly accommodation (R. 86-87). Permission had neither been granted nor denied (R. 87). On the day of the accident, he had no recollection of having made any inquiry of anyone as to whether defendant would be using the washing platform (R. 87).

(b) Defendant's employees did not participate in the acts which produced the injuries to plaintiff.

By answers to the written interrogatories, plaintiff claimed that defendant's alleged negligence consisted of the following:

"14. No warning signs, directions, or instructions provided; no cover over the vat; vat placed too close to steam cleaning equipment; no proper protection or barricades around vat for person working in vicinity; insufficient visibility provided when steam hose in use."

Plaintiff made no claim that defendant or any of defendant's employees were actively negligent in some manner which contributed to the injury of plaintiff. Plaintiff relied on the claim that he and his employer were business invitees at the place where the accident occurred. Plaintiff produced no evidence that the cover lid for the caustic soda tank was raised by any of defendant's employees on the day of the accident. There was no evidence that the tank was in use by defendant on the day of the plaintiff's injury. In fact, neither Droubay nor plaintiff noticed any of the defendant's employees in the immediate vicinity of the concrete platform on January 18,

1952 (R. 77, 108, 114, 172). Neither Droubay nor plaintiff paid any attention to the caustic soda tank, nor made any observation as to whether the cover lid was up or down at any time prior to the accident (R. 114, 160).

Defendant neither turned on the steam, nor operated the equipment, nor placed the trailer truck on the washing platform. Plaintiff himself drove the truck onto the platform. Plaintiff's employer, Parley Droubay, was the person who turned on the steam cleaner, placed the soap on it, and placed the equipment in operation (R. 68-69). Droubay cleaned a portion of the left side of the undercarriage of the truck, showing plaintiff how to use the equipment. Droubay then turned the steam hose over to the plaintiff, leaving plaintiff entirely alone until after the accident occurred (R. 70-71).

(c) Failure to see the caustic soda tank was originally due to plaintiff's lack of observation of what was clearly visible, and subsequently due to lack of visibility created by plaintiff.

Plaintiff had never been on the concrete platform prior to the day of the accident. At the direction of Parley Droubay, plaintiff drove Truck No. 18 onto the "concrete ramp," keeping it as far from the windows and wall as possible to avoid splashing the wall and windows with grease and water (R. 124-125). He drove the truck in a position so as to stay on the slab with the right wheels. At the trial he estimated that he drove the truck to a point within 3 feet from the garage door located at the east end of the concrete washing platform, whereas on deposition he testified the distance was about 6 feet (R. 125, 159). Droubay estimated that the front of the truck was parallel with the west edge of the caustic soda

tank (R. 102). Droubay estimated that the right wheels of the truck were about 20 inches north of the south edge of the concrete slab (R. 102).

Prior to the date of the accident, plaintiff had merely seen the concrete platform and surroundings from a distance of about 125 feet (R. 151). No one had ever told him that there was a caustic soda tank adjacent to the washing platform. When he drove onto the platform, he did not see the tank. He testified that "if I had of I wouldn't have paid much attention to it" because "there is always a lot of different tanks and metal containers they have in this vicinity here" (R. 127). In examining his own photograph, Exhibit "A," plaintiff admitted that he could see the caustic soda tank, and that the same was plainly visible in approaching the concrete slab (R. 154). As he drove onto the concrete platform he was paying more attention to the left wall and windows. He knew there were objects to his right, a collection of tanks and high-boys, but he did not pay too much attention to objects on his right. He stayed about 5 feet away from the north wall of the building (R. 155). He testified, "I tried to stay as far away from the building as I could and still clear the objects on the right hand side and not scrape the fender." He knew he had to stay away from the objects on the right side to get around with the steam cleaning equipment (R. 156). The steam-cleaner nozzle is about 3 or 4 feet from the end of the hose to the tip of the nozzle (R. 157). There were no objects on the concrete platform other than the steam-cleaning equipment. He had an unobstructed path when he drove onto the platform, and he did not have to move any objects (R. 159).

As plaintiff drove onto the platform, he did not observe whether the lid cover of the caustic soda tank was up or down (R. 160). He thought there were objects within a foot of the concrete platform (R. 161), but he admitted that he testified on deposition that there were no objects on the concrete platform except the steam cleaner, and that the objects such as barrels which he claimed obstructed his view were 4 or 5 feet away from the concrete platform (R. 162-163).

Plaintiff got out of the cab, and Parley Droubay showed him how to steam-clean the undercarriage (R. 164). Plaintiff then started to use the steam-cleaner. Plaintiff directed the steam where he wanted it, and moved the nozzle to examine the part to which he had previously applied the steam (R. 165-166):

"Q. When you started to clean around in the front of the truck, how could you tell whether or not the part you had been cleaning, or the undercarriage had been sufficiently cleaned?

"A. I knew if I waited a minute the steam would clear, and put steam on it again and more or less take it for granted the last dose I had given enough to have it cleaned.

"Q. As you handled this nozzle you directed this nozzle to the under-carriage, you turned it to one side, you turned the steam nozzle away and looked at the part you were working on?

"A. Some of the time turned it up in the air and waited for the steam to disappear."

Plaintiff tried "to walk around the side of the truck" as far as he could get "over by the cab door, to wash the outside

of the right front wheel" when his left foot hit the north wall of the tank of caustic soda, and he raised his foot up over the wall and stepped into the tank. The visibility was so poor "on account of the steam, I never saw, or noticed any vat being there." He held the steam nozzle "straight in front of me, to my left, a little," his hand being about 2 feet from the end of the nozzle. The steam was on the entire period of time (R. 166-168). The steam was so dense that it was "difficult to see where I was going, very difficult (R. 166). There was so much steam coming out in front of the truck that he could not see. It was so foggy he could not see his hand in front of his face (R. 133). Explaining how he stepped over the wall of the caustic soda tank, he testified (R. 168):

"A. I touched it with my foot, and as I sort of stumbled I tried to raise my foot up, to catch my balance, therefore, I accidentally stepped into the tank, trying to keep my balance, with my right elbow on the fender, trying to hold myself as I moved forward."

The trial court denied the defendant's offer to show that on deposition plaintiff admitted that he could easily see where he was going if he turned the steam nozzle to one side and up instead of turning it down (R. 170-172).

Plaintiff admitted that Exhibit 9 as a photograph of a steam-cleaner nozzle is similar to the one he used (R. 176). Plaintiff had control over the steam-nozzle the entire time he was using it (R. 177-178).

When plaintiff stepped into the tank of caustic soda, he yelled, ran into the wash room and was given assistance by his employer and taken to the hospital. The court excluded

the offered evidence that he was paid workmen's compensation, and recovered sufficiently to return to work when compensation settlement was made.

Defendant offered evidence showing that Parley Droubay prior to January 18, 1952, requested written permission to use the washing rack, and to share the use with defendant; and that he was advised that the only privileges he had were those set forth in the written contracts and lease, and that Lloyd Clyde McDonnell, to whom application was made, was unable to grant such permission (R. 199-200).

The trial judge declined to hear argument on the motion for dismissal or the motion for directed verdict of no cause of action, and submitted the case to the jury.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED ON FOR REVERSAL OF THE JUDGMENT

1. The case should not have been submitted to the jury, for defendant violated no duty of care to plaintiff.
2. Plaintiff was guilty of negligence as a matter of law which would preclude recovery in any event.
3. The court erred in the exclusion of evidence.
4. The court erred in its charge to the jury, by erroneous instructions and by refusal to submit instructions on defendant's theory.
5. The State Insurance Fund was a necessary party.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THE CASE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SUBMITTED TO THE JURY, FOR DEFENDANT VIOLATED NO DUTY OF CARE TO PLAINTIFF.

Plaintiff filed suit on the theory that he was a business invitee on defendant's premises, and that defendant was negligent by failing to keep the premises in a safe condition, particularly by keeping and maintaining a tank of caustic soda adjacent to a concrete washing platform (R. 1). The defendant denied that plaintiff was a business invitee on the particular premises where the accident occurred, and the evidence shows that the place where plaintiff's employer transacted business with the defendant by loading petroleum products into trucks and tankers is an area at least 100 feet from the concrete platform and 150 feet from the caustic tank south of that platform. As pointed out hereinafter in a discussion of the error in the submission of the case to the jury, the trial court assumed that if plaintiff was a business invitee on *some portion* of the real property of defendant, that business invitation extended to all of defendant's property.

The place where the injury occurred was at least 150 feet distant from the eastern portion of the marketing facility. No petroleum products were loaded by Droubay or his employees at or adjacent to the place where the injury occurred. Droubay had a right to use certain portions of the defendant's premises by express written agreements. He admitted that he claimed no right to use the washing platform, and that he had made no

arrangements for its use. He had requested written permission from defendant's officials to use the washing platform, but he was never given such permission—"generally just put off" (R. 86-87). Droubay washed his trucks once every sixty days, and it cost him money when he had his trucks washed at Wagstaff's (R. 108, 92). Droubay never offered to pay any money for the use of the defendant's washing facilities (R. 92). He had tried to make some arrangements for the use of said washing platform and a grease rack, but permission had never been granted (R. 92). Before using the washing platform, he generally asked someone in the maintenance department of defendant corporation whether defendant would be using it or if he would be in the way (R. 86). He regarded the matter of using those facilities as a matter of neighborly accommodation (R. 87). On the day of the accident he did not recall having asked anyone about it (R. 87).

There is not a scintilla of evidence that Droubay was invited to use the washing platform and the steam-cleaning equipment, either by implication or otherwise. Plaintiff was not a business invitee of defendant. He was an employee of Droubay. The injury occurred at a place entirely outside the place where any business was transacted, and more than 150 feet away.

The accident did not occur by reason of some acts of defendant's employees. The plaintiff's employer turned on the steam-cleaning equipment, and turned the use of it over to plaintiff after plaintiff had driven the truck onto the cement platform. Plaintiff paid no attention to his surroundings other than to observe that there were no employees of defendant

around. None of the defendant's employees did any of the acts which produced the injury. There was no active negligence on the part of defendant, and plaintiff claimed none. The only negligence claimed by plaintiff on the part of defendant was:

"14. No warning sign, directions, or instructions provided; no cover over the vat; vat placed too close to steam cleaning equipment; no proper protection or barricades around vat for person working in vicinity; insufficient visibility when steam hose in use."

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