1953

# Wilfred A. Rogalski v. Phillips Petroleum Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

reason which would require its exclusion if the witness were testifying.

The appellant implies in its brief that the trial court sustained the objection to certain portions of the plaintiff's deposition without knowing the content thereof. The line of testimony thus far however, had already revealed its substance. While the objection was sustained in the presence of the jury, the Court, during the recess, listened to the proffered evidence and again reaffirmed its position (R. 170-172).

The evidence sought to be admitted by tendering the deposition was evidence the Court previously had excluded on cross-examination as repetitious (R. 170). If the trial court was correct in excluding the evidence offered from the witness on cross-examination, then clearly under the provisions of the Rules of Civil Procedure, above noted, the deposition was likewise properly refused. The evidence was objected to on cross-examination as being repetitious and in no way contradictory. An examination of the record shows this to be true. As noted above, the substance of the testimony, the exclusion of which appellant complains of on pages 36 to 38 of its brief, is that by moving the nozzle in another direction a person could, at least to some extent, see the area in which he was working. On direct examination plaintiff had testified as follows:

"A. Then I tried to clean this truck, the back dual wheel, on the outside of the wheel it was very sticky, I would keep the nozzle very close to it to make the steam efficient; it didn't clean it when you hold it far away.

"Then I went over to the left front wheel, cleaned the outside of that wheel, cleaned the inside of that front wheel, across the front axle, I cleaned the inside of the front wheel the best I could, *taking the nozzle away and putting it back down again.*

"Q. Standing in front of the truck at that time?

"A. Yes, sir, bending over, looking at the wheel, and pouring the steam, and then *I took the nozzle away from the inside of the front wheel several times and put it back to give it a little bit more cleaning*" (R. 132).

On cross-examination defendant's counsel had questioned the witness and read portions of plaintiff's deposition to the following effect:

"Q. This steam, that obscured your vision, is steam that came from this nozzle you were using, was it not?

"A. Part of it was, yes.

"Q. Was there any part came from any other source?

"A. Yes, sir.

"Q. Where was that?

"A. It came from underneath the truck from the northeast around the side of the front wheel where I had been cleaning, the steam was coming off of cold metal.

"Q. Before the steam cleared away, you moved around the area where you had no visibility?

"A. Poor visibility all around me there.

"Q. When you started to clean around in the front of the truck, *how could you tell whether or*

*not the part you had been cleaning, or the under-carriage had been sufficiently cleaned?*

*"A. I knew if I waited a minute the steam would clear, and put steam on it again and more or less take it for granted the last dose I had given enough to have it cleaned.*

*"Q. As you handed this nozzle to the under-carriage, you turned it to one side, you turned the steam nozzle away and looked at the part you were working on?*

*"A. Some of the time turned it up in the air and waited for the steam to disappear.*

*"Q. That is right. How often did you turn it up in the air?*

*"A. After you had gone over quite an area.*

*"Q. You turned it up in the air so the steam would clear out of your vision?*

*"A. I don't know; I didn't know too much about handling this; I don't know how often I turned it up in the air.*

*"Q. Mr. Droubay had demonstrated to you how to work, had he not?*

*"A. I watched him, I imagine you could call it demonstration.*

*"Q. As you walked, or as you moved toward the south, were you as you moved toward the south, able to see anything as you hit the tank with your foot?*

*"A. I was trying to move toward the west.*

*"Q. As you moved toward the front, you had to move toward the front to get to the west, didn't you?*

*"A. About one step to the south.*

"Q. Could you see to the west?

"A. No, I can't remember as I could.

"Q. Well, wasn't the steam so thick at that time you couldn't see where you were going?

"A. Well, it was very dense, hard to see, I imagine you could see, it was difficult to see where I was going, very difficult.

"Q. Wasn't it because Mr. Rogalsky [sic], you turned this steam nozzle down to your left just before you moved over to the tank?

\* \* \*

"A. No, sir. Immediately after I pulled the nozzle, I had looked and seen the wheel through a fog and seen some sticky grease being removed, some was loose and going to be removed, a hose would take it off; I took it off and gave it another little shot and took the nose off the front wheel and I don't know whether I put it up in the air and started to walk around; I knew it was the fender. I could feel it with my elbow and hip, and I wanted to get done before the day was over.

"Q. Is it your testimony you did not turn the steam hose down to your left in the direction of that tank?

"A. I don't remember, sir.

\* \* \*

"MR. REIMAN: I want to show what he testified on the desposition, Your Honor, how he held the steam nozzle, how it pulled it away from the part he was working on. He said he assumed it was clean, and I want to go on. May I?

"THE COURT: You may.

"Q. (by Mr. Reiman) Line 22:

"Q. You mentioned that the steam obscured your view a little. How were you able to tell what parts had been satisfactorily cleaned?

"A. *I would move the steam cleaning nozzle away from that area, and look at it. If it was not clean I would put it back.*

"Q. You so testified, did you not on deposition?

"A. I guess I did.

"Q. *So that your vision was obstructed or obscured only in the direction in which you were shooting the steam; is that it?*

"A. Yes, in that direction, and in and about that direction or area, it was rather tall and it took in quite an area \* \* \*" (R. 165-167-169, 170). (Emphasis added.)

The portion of the record quoted above was already before the jury for its consideration. Counsel for defendant were seeking to argue the possible inferences to be drawn from this testimony by having it continually repeated. The evidence was sufficiently before the jury to form a basis for any argument defendant may have wished to make from it without the necessity of such repetition.

An examination of the above quotations from the record clearly shows that the information sought to be shown by the excluded evidence set forth on pages 36 to 38 of appellant's brief had at least twice previously been given by the witness. The portions which defendant sought to introduce from the deposition added nothing to what was already before the jury. It was entirely within the trial court's discretion to refuse the presentation of this

evidence for the third or fourth time. That the trial judge has discretion to exclude cumulative or repetitious evidence is well settled.

“The Court may properly prevent a witness from repeating testimony which he has already given.” 53 Am. Jur., *Trial*, Section 106.

In accord see:

*Parry v. Harris*, 93 Utah 317, 320, 72 P. 2d 1044 (1937);

*Litt v. Litt*, 75 Cal. App. 2d 242, 170 P. 2d 684 (1946);

*Minder v. Rowley*, 35 Wash. 2d 92, 211 P. 2d 170 (1949);

*Klinginsmith v. Allen*, 155 Neb. 674, 53 N. W. 2d 77 (1953).

Apart from the discretionary authority of the trial judge to exclude such repetitious evidence, it is clear that since the substance of the evidence was already before the jury the defendant could not possibly have been prejudiced by its exclusion.

#### POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY OR IN REFUSING TO SUBMIT DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS.

The main contention made by the defendant as to the instructions of the trial court to the jury relate to its re-

fusal to give defendant's requested Instructions No. 1-10 as submitted. Defendant's requested Instruction No. 1 is largely a statement of what defendant's theory as to the case was, and in substance was covered by Instructions No. 2 and No. 10 given by the trial court. Defendant's requested Instruction No. 2 merely repeats certain evidentiary matter defendant had offered in evidence. This evidence was before the jury and did not warrant a specific instruction.

Substantial portions of defendant's requested instructions relating to the definition of and duty of care owed to a business visitor or invitee were embodied within the court's Instructions No. 10 and 11, which correctly instructed the jury in accordance with the law of this state. *In re Wimmer's Estate*, 111 Utah 444, 182 P. 2d 119 (1947); *Skerl v. Willow Creek Coal Company*, 92 Utah 474, 69 P. 2d 502 (1937). The instructions given by the trial court in this case are in complete accord with the instructions approved by this Court in the above cases and the principles stated therein. Appellant fails to point out any error in the instructions given by the Court, or is it seriously contended that said instructions do not correctly state the law.

The balance of defendant's requested instructions all relate to the standard of care owed to one who is not a business visitor. The principal contention made by appellant is that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury, as requested by defendant, on the definition of a licensee and trespasser and the duty of care owed to such



persons. Appellant contends that the instructions took from the jury one of the primary issues in the lawsuit since there was evidence from which the jury could have found that plaintiff was a gratuitous licensee or even a trespasser. As noted earlier in this brief, there may have been sufficient evidence offered to support a finding that plaintiff was a licensee or trespasser, and also that defendant had violated the duty of care owed to such a person. Even assuming this, it is difficult to conceive how the defendant in this case could have been prejudiced by the failure of the Court to so instruct. The issue which defendant refers to as being "primary" was not even raised by the pleadings in the case or at the trial. The trial court isn't required to instruct the jury on every possible alternative in a case.

The jury was instructed as to the duty of care owed to a business visitor which is concededly the highest standard of care imposed on a landowner, but the burden placed upon the plaintiff to bring himself within the category of a business visitor is likewise the most difficult to meet. The jury was clearly and specifically instructed by the Court in its Instruction No. 5 (R. 247) that:

"If you find from the evidence that the defendant was not negligent, *or that plaintiff was not a business visitor of defendant*, or that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence, as the term is elsewhere defined for you, *then your verdict shall be for the defendant, no cause of action*" (Emphasis added).

Under this instruction it was mandatory that the jury first find that plaintiff was a business visitor before recovery could be allowed.

Precisely the same contention made by the defendant in this case as to the trial court's failure to instruct on its theory that plaintiff was a licensee or trespasser has been previously considered and answered by this Court. *Skerl v. Willow Creek Coal Company*, 92 Utah 474, 69 P. 2d 502 (1937). In that case, while there was no specific request made by the defendant at trial for instructions as to the other categories, the same argument was made on appeal as appellant makes in its brief. On pages 484 this Court stated:

"Under the instructions a verdict for plaintiff indicates that the jury could not have found other than the plaintiff was a invitee or permittee, which of necessity negatives the position of her being a trespasser. The main point for the jury to determine was whether the plaintiff was an invitee. The jury were instructed that, if plaintiff was not an invited person, she was not entitled to recover. It would have tended to confuse the issues and the jury to have added instructions as to licensees and trespassers."

In any event, the instructions requested by the defendant did not correctly state or apply the law. A detailed examination of said instructions reveal that in neither substance or effect do they state the law of this state, or that set forth in the *Restatement of the Law of Torts*, as to the liability of a landowner to a licensee. The appellant's contention that there was no evidence to support the instruc-

tions as to business visitors is answered earlier in this brief under Point I where the various factors are enumerated from which a jury could have and did find that plaintiff was a business visitor.

The instructions given by the trial court in this case clearly presented to the jury the issues raised by the evidence. It is respectfully submitted that the defendant, under no view of the case, could have been prejudiced by the trial court's failure to give instructions as to the liability owed to a licensee or trespasser. Instructions to that effect were not warranted under the issues raised by the pleadings and would have only tended to confuse the jury. The instructions as given gave the defendant every advantage possible under the evidence introduced.

## POINT V.

THERE WAS NO DEFECT IN PARTIES —  
THIS ACTION WAS AUTHORIZED BY AND  
BROUGHT IN BEHALF OF THE PLAINTIFF  
AND THE STATE INSURANCE FUND.

Plaintiff filed this action, with the express approval and consent of the State Insurance Fund. Subsequent to defendant's filing its Motion to Dismiss and Make More Certain, plaintiff filed with the Court a letter addressed to plaintiff's counsel which states that a total of \$416.52 had been paid by the State Insurance Fund, part directly to the plaintiff and the balance to the hospital, and that:

“You are authorized to represent the interest of the State Insurance Fund in attempting to pro-

cure reimbursement to the fund for the amounts which the State Insurance Fund has been required to pay in this case, it being our understanding that Mr. Rogalski's accident was caused by the fault of a third party" (R. 9).

This letter merely confirmed a prior understanding of the parties. It was filed in this action prior to the defendant's answer and was before the Court when it heard and denied defendant's Motion. The parties argued the question fully and after considering the matter, particularly the above letter, the trial court concluded that the State Insurance Fund would be bound by the judgment in this case.

It is defendant's contention that Section 35-1-65, U. C. A. (1953) required the State Insurance Fund to be named as a party plaintiff in the present action and that any cause of action was in said agency. The concluding paragraph to Point V of appellant's brief states that there is nothing to prevent the State Insurance Fund from maintaining a separate action against the defendant. This, of course, is the only way defendant could be prejudiced by the alleged defect.

Prior to 1945 this section provided that the employer or insurance carrier, having paid compensation, "shall be subrogated to the rights of such employee." Section 42-1-58, U. C. A. (1943). It further provided that before being required to pay compensation, the employee could be required to make a written assignment of the cause of action of the insurance carrier. Section 35-1-65, U. C. A. (1953), as now written, provides that if compensation is claimed and the employer or insurance carrier becomes ob-

ligated to pay compensation, then said employer or carrier shall become trustee of the cause of action against the third party and may maintain the action either in its own name or the name of the injured employee. The present section has not been construed so as to indicate just what must exist between the employee and the insurance carrier prior to the commencement of the action and what must be shown in the proceedings as to said relationship. The legislature, however, certainly did not intend to alter the conclusion reached by the cases decided under the former section to the effect that the employee has a definite interest in the cause of action and that if the insurance carrier waives any right under the cause of action or refuses to prosecute said action, the employee may himself bring suit against the third party. It is likewise clear that there is but one cause of action against the third party.

*Johanson v. Cudahy Packing Co.*, 107 Utah 114, 152 P. 2d 98 (1944) ;

*Jay v. Chicago Bridge & Iron Co.*, 150 F. 2d 247 (10th Cir. 1945) ;

*Cederloff v. Whited*, 110 Utah 45, 169 P. 2d 777 (1946).

While in the *Johanson* case this Court stated that the failure to join the insurance carrier was at the most only a defect in parties that had been waived, the Court nevertheless made it clear that the injured employee (or as in that case the dependents of a deceased employee) was a real party in interest and where the carrier had waived its right to subrogation said party could properly bring suit to enforce the cause of action. In the *Jay* case, the United

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